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In the
United States Court of Appeals
For the Seventh G rcuit

No. 94- 3594

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl aintiff-Appellee,

V.

RAYMOND A. GUNDERSOQN,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Wsconsin.
No. 93 CR 123--Barbara B. Crabb, Chief Judge.

ARGUED FEBRUARY 21, 1995--DECI DED JUNE 6, 1995

Bef ore POSNER, Chief Judge, and CUMM NGS and KANNE,
Circuit Judges.

KANNE, Circuit Judge. Raynond Gunderson (Gunder -
son), the secretary-treasurer of Gunderson Truck and Auto
Wrld (GTAW, appeals his sentence inposed pursuant to
a guilty plea to one count of bankruptcy fraud, a violation
of 18 U . S.C. sec. 152./1 W affirmhis sentence.

Backgr ound

In May 1990, Bank One-M | waukee and GTAW ent ered
into a $7,000,000 "fl oor plan" agreenent--a financing agree-
nment - - wher eby Bank One woul d finance nost of GIAW s
car and small truck inventory. Under the floor plan, which
bot h Gunderson and his brother Arthur (the president of
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GTAW signed, GIAW pl edged all of its inventory as col -

| ateral and agreed not to subject that inventory to other

| iens. GTAWdid not live up to its side of the floor plan
agreenent; it used sonme of its inventory as collateral with
anot her bank, First Bank La Crosse.

For reasons not directly relevant to this case, in Janu-
ary 1991, the FBI began investigating the financial practices of
GTAW Soon it discovered the double financing and
| nformed Bank One and First Bank. Each bank conducted
an audit of GTAW Subsequently, Bank One pl aced on-
Site a representative to nonitor Bank One's coll ateral, and
First Bank stopped financi ng GTAW al t oget her. Gunder -
son admtted that the double financing was necessitated
by financial problens.

On March 26, 1991, GIAWfiled a voluntary bankruptcy
petition under Chapter 11. GIAW as debtor in possession,
and Bank One, as the primary secured creditor, executed
a cash coll ateral agreenent (Agreenent) on April 15. Qun-
derson signed the Agreenent as secretary-treasurer of
GTAW and personal ly as guarantor.

The parties stipulated in the Agreenent that GIrAW
owed Bank One over $7,000,000 fromthe floor plan agree-
ment and froma shortfall on funds received fromthe sale
of vehicles that GTAW had pl edged as collateral to Bank
One but for which GIAW had not turned over the pro-
ceeds fromthe sale. Under the Agreenent, Bank One was
granted a first priority security interest in all post-petition
assets, excluding properly perfected purchase noney se-
curity interests and real estate. Post-petition assets in-
cluded all "vehicle inventory" and the proceeds from all
"vehicle sales.™

In order to allow GTAWto continue to operate, while al so
recogni zing Bank One's interest in nonitoring GIAW s
busi ness practices, the parties agreed that GIAWwoul d
deposit all proceeds fromthe sale of vehicles into its ac-
counts at United Bank in Osseo, Wsconsin. GIAW was
prohi bited from using any proceeds fromvehicle sal es
Wi t hout the perm ssion of Bank One, but was all owed,
wi t hout Bank One's perm ssion, to use the proceeds from
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Its service and repair work for operating expenses in the
ordi nary course of business.

The Agreenent was nodified and finally approved by
t he bankruptcy court on October 8, 1991 and entered as
its order. Alittle over a nonth later, it was apparent that
GTAW coul d not work out of its financial woes, and on
Novenber 27, 1991, the bankruptcy court ordered that
at 5:00 p.m on Decenber 20, 1991, all assets of GIAW
were to be turned over for liquidation to Bank One.

To facilitate the descri bed Agreenent provision which
all oned GTAWto use the proceeds fromits service and
repair work, but not the proceeds from vehicl e sales,
GTAW opened two accounts at United Bank: one was re-
ferred to as the "lInventory Account” and the other was
referred to as the "Service and Repair Account.”

In the late fall of 1991, while the approved Agreenent
was in effect, the Buffal o County, Wsconsin H ghway De-
partnment contacted GTAWto supply it with two General
Motors trucks for snow plow ng. Gunderson asked Bank
One to finance the deal for GIAW but the bank decli ned.
Because he coul d not obtain financing, Gunderson arranged
with Iten Chevrolet, a nearby deal ership, to order the
trucks and have them "drop-shipped" at GTAW who
woul d then sell the trucks to Buffalo County. In turn,
GTAWwoul d rei nburse Iten Chevrolet for the cost of
t he trucks.

In early Decenber, GIAWreceived the trucks and de-
|ivered themto Buffalo County. Buffalo County paid GIrAW
$33,073.50 by check dated Decenber 9, 1991. On Decenber
16 that check for vehicle sales was deposited in--not the
| nventory Account--but the Service and Repair Account.

On that sane day, Gunderson wote two checks on the
Service and Repair Account payable to Iten Chevrol et and
pl aced themin the mail.

In the neantine, United Bank was aware of the bank-
ruptcy court order that directed all assets of GITAWTre-
ferred to in the Agreenent be turned over to Bank One
at 5:00 p.m, Decenber 20 for liquidation. Gunderson was
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at United Bank on Friday, Decenber 20 and | earned t hat
after 5:00 p.m United Bank would not honor the two
checks he had nmailed to Iten Chevrolet. Acting before the
5:00 p.m deadline, Gunderson cashed three checks drawn
on the Service and Repair Account: one payable to United
Bank in the armount of $37,000. 00, one payable to Ray
@underson in the anmobunt of $1,639.50, and anot her pay-
able to United Bank in the anount of $3,774.47. Gunderson
received cash in the sum of $32,413.97 and two cashier's
checks each in the sum of $5, 000. 00.

The foll ow ng Monday, Decenber 23, 1991, Gunderson
delivered to Iten Chevrol et $33,400.00, fromthe funds
wi t hdrawn on Friday, in paynent for the two trucks./2

Proceedi ngs Bel ow

A three count indictnment charged Gunderson and his
brother wwth two counts of bank fraud and one count of
maki ng fal se statenents to a federally insured financi al
institution. Before trial, pursuant to a plea agreenent, the
governnent di sm ssed the indictnent agai nst Raynond
GQunderson and entered into a separate pretrial diversion
agreenent with Arthur Gunderson. Raynond Gunderson
in return pled guilty to bankruptcy fraud. Gunderson ad-
mts that his holding the $33,400 over the weekend, after
the tinme that the bankruptcy judge had ordered that all
GTAW assets be turned over to Bank One, violated 18
U S C sec. 152.

At sentencing, Chief Judge Crabb determ ned Gunder -
son's total offense level as 12 under United States Sen-
tencing Guideline (U S.S.G) sec. 2F1.1 and his Crimnal Hi s-
tory Category as |, resulting in a guidelines range of 10-16
nont hs. Judge Crabb then i nposed a sentence of 13 nont hs
| npri sonnent .

Cal cul ati on of Loss Under Sec. 2F1.1
GQunderson first argues that the district court erred in ad-
justing his offense | evel upward four |evels. Under sec. 2F1.1,

t he Gui delines provision that governs "O fenses | nvol ving
Fraud or Deceit," the base offense level is 6. The court
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I's then instructed to determ ne the anount of |oss associ -
ated with the fraud and to adjust the offense | evel accord-
ing to a chart provided. The district court concl uded that
the victim Bank One, realized a | oss of $33,400, the anount
t hat Gunderson wi thheld fromthe bankruptcy estate after

t he Decenber 20 deadline and paid to Iten Chevrol et on

the 23rd. This calculation increased his offense level to
10. GQunderson clains that the district court erred as a
matter of law in defining | oss. As Gunderson clains that

the district court erred in interpreting |oss, we review
the district court's factual findings for clear error, but
review de novo the district court's interpretation of |oss.
United States v. Strozier, 981 F.2d 281, 283 (7th Gr. 1992).

Loss is described in the conmmentary as "the val ue of
t he noney, property, or services unlawfully taken." U S. S G
sec. 2F1.1, Application Note 7. Gunderson contends that Bank
One incurred no | oss because Iten Chevrolet was entitled
to the $33,400. He believes that we nust delve into the
Bankruptcy Code and Article 9 of the Uniform Comrer -
cial Code to determ ne |oss under sec. 2F1.1. The govern-
nment, on the other hand, urges us to take a sinpler ap-
proach to the interpretation of |oss. Because Qunderson
admts that he violated the bankruptcy court's order by
diverting fromthe estate the $33,400, $33,400 is the anount
unl awful Iy taken, the governnent clains.

We need not choose between these approaches because
even if Gunderson's approach is correct, he |oses. Qunder-
son violated the court ordered Agreenent by w t hdraw
i ng the noney received fromthe sale of the trucks, and
t herefore Bank One was deprived of the $33,400 to which
It was legally entitled.

Paragraph 5 of the Agreenent states, in part, "The
Debt or hereby grants to [Bank One] a first priority securi-
ty interest in all post-petition assets, . . . including vehi-
cle inventory." Paragraph 8 states:

The Debt or has established bank accounts at the United
Bank of Issue in Osseo, Wsconsin. The Debtor

hereby agrees to deposit all of the proceeds of vehi-
cle sales and all other receipts fromthe operation of
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Its business or sale of fixed assets into these accounts.
The Debtor will not be authorized to make w t hdrawal s

or disbursenents fromthe proceeds of vehicle or fixed
asset sales wi thout Bank approval. The Debtor wl|

be authorized to use the proceeds from service and

repair work for operating expenses in the ordinary
course of the Debtor's business. (Enphasis added).

The Agreenent ordered by the court does not specifically
contenpl ate separate bank accounts, but, as noted above,
@Qunder son assigned the |abels of "Inventory Account" and
"Service and Repair Account” to the two accounts. As

evi denced by his testinony at the sentencing hearing,
however, @underson did not deposit the proceeds of all
vehicle sales in the "lInventory Account."”

Q Now, if | cane into the deal ership and bought one
of the cars not financed through Bank One and whose
serial nunmber was not on the list, where did the pro-
ceeds fromthat sale to ne go? Into what account?

A After discussing it with Jerry Kuehl, it would go
I N our service account.

Q Is it your testinony, M. Qnderson, that Bank

One did not have a security interest in vehicles ac-

qui red by your deal ership after the bankruptcy petition was
filed, unless those vehicles had been [financed]

by Bank One.

A That's correct.

Unfortunately for Qunderson, that's not correct. The un-
anbi guous | anguage of the Agreenent as approved and

ordered by the court gave to Bank One a first priority
security interest in all vehicle inventory and the proceeds
fromall vehicle sales, whether or not Bank One financed
GITAW s purchase of the vehicles. Further, the Agreenent
states that GTAWagreed to "deposit all of the proceeds

of vehicle sales" into an account at United Bank. GIrAW

was not authorized to withdraw the proceeds fromthe
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sal e of vehicles wi thout perm ssion fromBank One; this
limtation held true regardl ess of into which bank account
@Qunder son deposited the proceeds fromthe sale of the
trucks.

From GQunderson's testinony and the exhibits introduced
at the sentencing hearing, it is clear that Gunderson de-
posited into the Service and Repair Account the noney
he received fromBuffalo County, then w thdrew from
t hose sane funds the noney to pay Iten Chevrolet. Con-
trary to the court approved Agreenent, he did not get
Bank One's perm ssion before nmaking this withdrawal./3
Bank One was entitled under the court approved Agree-
ment to the $33,400 that Gunderson w thdrew, held and
ultimately paid to Iten Chevrolet. Therefore the district
court did not err in finding that $33,400 represented the
| oss associated with Gunderson's fraud, as contenpl at ed
by U S S. G sec. 2F1.1.

Adj ustnment for Violation of a Judicial Oder

@Qunderson's second i ssue on appeal is whether the dis-
trict court erred in adjusting his offense | evel upward two
| evel s under sec. 2F1.1(b)(3)(B). That section states:

|f the offense involved . . . (B) violation of any judicial
or adm nistrative order, injunction, decree, or process

not addressed el sewhere in the guidelines, increase

by 2 | evels.

The district court found that Gunderson had viol ated the
Agreenent, to which the bankruptcy court had given its

| mprimatur. @Qunderson admits that his conduct falls
within the purview of the | anguage of the section. But

he clains that the rationale for the adjustnent does not
apply to his situation and that use of the adjustnent con-
stitutes doubl e counting.

@Qunderson first clains that, although on its face the ad-
justnent applies to his conduct, the adjustnent was really
meant to puni sh recidivist behavior. He | ooks to two por-
tions of the commentary for support. Gunderson quotes
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Note 5, which states that "If it is established that an en-
tity the defendant controlled was a party to the prior pro-
ceedi ng, and the defendant had know edge of the prior
decree or order, this provision applies even if the defen-
dant was not a specifically nanmed party in the prior case."
(Enphases Qunderson's). The commentary then gives an
exanpl e of a defendant who had been enjoined fromsell-

I ng a dangerous product, but flouts the injunction. Far-
ther along, the commentary states "A defendant who has

been subject to civil or admnistrative proceedings for the
sane or sim/lar fraudul ent conduct denonstrates aggra-
vated crimnal intent and is deserving of additional punish-
ment for not conformng with the requirenents of judi-

cial process or orders issued by federal, state, or |ocal
adm ni strative agencies." U S S. G sec. 2F1l.1, Commentary,
Backgr ound.

From this Gunderson concludes that "it appears that
t he two-poi nt enhancenent at issue here is designed to
apply when a defendant has had a previous warning." W
agree. However, @underson had such warning: the Agree-
ment, which received the bankruptcy court's approval and
becane its order. It is conpletely rational, and we believe
W se, to determne that a person who defies a specific
court-directed course of conduct shows a nore "aggra-
vated crimnal intent" than one who viol ates the general
| aws agai nst fraudul ent conduct. Thus the rationale for
the adjustnent conpletely fits Gunderson's actions.

For these sane reasons, no double counting problemexists
wth respect to sec. 2F1.1(b)(3)(B). This court recently resol ved
this exact question. United States v. Mhamad, Nos. 93-

2837, 93-2969, 1995 W. 242639, at *8 (7th G r. 1995). See

also United States v. M chal ek, No. 94-1450, 1995 W

242644, at *5 (7th Cr. 1995) (stating that "violations of

18 U.S.C. sec. 152, in their nost basic form involve a higher

| evel of culpability, and thus deserve greater punishnent,

than sone of the other crinmes that correspond to Cui de-

line sec. 2F1.1."). The violation of a judicially approved agree-
ment is sufficiently nore serious than sone other crines

that fall wthin the scope of sec. 2F1.1 to warrant a stiffer
penal ty.
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The sentence inposed by the district court is
AFFI RMVED.

FOOTNOTES

/1

The relevant portion of 18 U S. C. sec. 152 states:
Whoever know ngly and fraudulently conceals fromthe
custodi an, trustee, marshal, or other officer of the
court charged with the control or custody of proper-
ty or fromcreditors in any case under title 11, any
property belonging to the estate of a debtor . . . Shall
be fined not nore than $5,000 or inprisoned not nore
than five years, or both.

/2

On Decenber 26, 1991, United Bank returned the
earlier Iten checks unpaid, as stanps on those checks
reflect.

/3

The governnent proved by a preponderance of the
evi dence that Gunderson viol ated the Agreenent by us-
i ng the proceeds fromvehicle sales. Gunderson testified
to a vague "course of dealing" by which Jerry Kuehl,
Bank One's on-site representative, controlled into which
account funds fromvehicle sales and other inconme would
be deposited. This was insufficient, however, to show that
on this specific occasion, Bank One gave Gunderson per-
m ssion to withdraw the proceeds fromthe sale of the
two trucks to Buffal o County.
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